72533-5

72533-5

No. 72533-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON



HAITHAM JOUDEH,

Appellant,

vs.

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company d/b/a PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS KOSNOFF, PLLC; DARRELL L. COCHRAN, Individually and on behalf of the Marital Community comprised of DARRELL L. COCHRAN and JANE DOE COCHRAN,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Brian J. Waid WSBA No. 26038 Jessica M. Creager WSBA No. 42183 WAID LAW OFFICE 5400 California Ave. S. W., Ste D Seattle, Washington 98136 Counsel for Appellant

I. Introduction

This is an appeal of a summary judgment dismissal of a legal malpractice action. The Defendants/ Respondents Darrell Cochran and his law firm, Pfau Cochran Vertetis Amala, PLLC (collectively "Cochran"), represented Plaintiff/Appellant Haitham Joudeh in the underlying personal injury action. Mr. Joudeh' Complaint alleged causes of action for: (a) legal malpractice; (b) breach of contract; (c) breach of fiduciary duty, and; (d) violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. CP 481-487. The trial court dismissed Mr. Joudeh's case on summary judgment. CP 930-935. The trial court erred in multiple respects, including:

- In violation of fundamental summary judgment standards, the trial court did *not* restrict Cochran to their initial summary judgment "showing" in reply and oral argument, but instead granted summary judgment based on arguments not included in Cochran's initial "showing;"
- Erroneously "finding" that Mr. Joudeh's extensive mitigation efforts were "insufficient" and thus broke the chain of causation as a matter of law;

1

- Erroneously concluded that no genuine issue of material fact remained in dispute relative to proximate cause as to any of Mr. Joudeh's causes of action;
- Erroneously concluded that Mr. Joudeh must establish proximate cause to obtain fee disgorgement as a remedy for Mr. Cochran's uncontroverted breaches of fiduciary duty.

On summary judgment, the burden to establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact does *not* shift to the non-mover *except* in regard to those issues on which the moving party makes a sufficient showing in the initial moving papers. Based on basic due process principles, a party may not expand its initial summary judgment "showing" in reply or oral argument. The trial court nevertheless allowed Cochran to do that in this case, over the objections of Mr. Joudeh. Restricted to their initial "showings," Cochran did *not* establish the absence of genuine issues of material fact.

In the underlying personal injury action, Cochran settled out the "easy" money of Mr. Joudeh's personal injury case (opening the door for the remaining defendants to obtain summary judgment based on the release of their agents/employees) and withdrew from representation. Mr. Joudeh then contacted roughly fifty (50) different law firms to represent him against the remaining defendants, without success. The Court in the underlying personal injury matter then granted the remaining defendants summary judgment based on the prior releases. The trial court in this case held that Mr. Joudeh's mitigation efforts were "insufficient," as a matter of law, because he did *not* appear in opposition to the remaining defendants' summary judgment motions. However, Washington only requires that tort victims pursue "reasonable" mitigation efforts, and whether the tort victim's mitigation efforts are "reasonable" is an issue for the jury. Furthermore, even if Joudeh's mitigation efforts were "negligent," that alone would not constitute a superseding cause that cuts off Cochran's liability.

Moreover, Mr. Joudeh testified that he would not have entered into the underlying partial settlements but for Mr. Cochran's multiple breaches of the standard of care. Mr. Joudeh's testimony established genuine issues of material fact relative to proximate cause, consistent with well-established Washington case law. The trial court thus erred in holding that he had not established the existence of genuine issues of material fact relative to proximate cause, even if it had not erred in allowing Cochran to expand their initial summary judgment "showing" on

3

the proximate cause issue.

Washington recognizes disgorgement and forfeiture of fees as an appropriate remedy for an attorney's breach of fiduciary duty. The client is *not* required to prove causation. Mr. Joudeh offered uncontroverted evidence that Mr. Cochran breached his fiduciary duties to Mr. Joudeh in multiple respects. The trial court nevertheless dismissed Mr. Joudeh's breach of fiduciary duty cause of action, based on causation.

The trial court committed multiple obvious errors. It should be reversed on all causes of action.

II. Assignments of Error and Issues on Appeal

A. Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred when it failed to limit Cochran to issues fairly raised in their initial summary judgment "showing."

2. The trial court erred when it held as a matter of law that no genuine issue of material fact remained on the issue of proximate cause in his legal malpractice cause of action.

3. The trial court erred when it held as a matter of law that Mr. Joudeh's unsuccessful mitigation attempts constituted a superseding cause that cut off Cochran's malpractice liability.

4. The trial court erred when it held as a matter of law that

Mr. Joudeh must prove causation as an essential element of a claim for fee disgorgement/forfeiture.

5. The trial court erred when it held as a matter of law that no genuine issue of material fact remained relative to Mr. Joudeh's breach of fiduciary duty cause of action.

6. The trial court erred when it held as a matter of law that no genuine issue of material fact remained relative to Mr. Joudeh's breach of contract cause of action.

7. The trial court erred when it held as a matter of law that no genuine issue of material fact remained relative to Mr. Joudeh's Consumer Protection Act cause of action.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Does this Court review summary judgment orders *de novo*? [All Assignments of Error]
- 2. On summary judgment, does this Court draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party? [All Assignments of Error]
- Are trial court Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law superfluous to appellate review of summary judgment? [All Assignments of Error]
- 4. Is the party moving for summary judgment limited to the issues raised in its initial "showing,"? [Assignment of Error no. 1]

- 5. Consistent with *Daugert v. Pappas* and *VersusLaw v. Stoel Rives*, how does a legal malpractice victim prove proximate causation in a legal malpractice action? [Assignments of Error nos. 2, 5, 6, 7]
- 6. Does the reasonableness of a tort victim's mitigation attempts constitute an issue for the jury? [Assignments of Error nos. 2, 3]
- Under what circumstances, do a legal malpractice victim's (allegedly) negligent mitigation attempts constitute a superseding cause that cuts off the liability of a negligent attorney? [Assignments of Error nos. 2, 3]
- 8. Under *Flint v. Hart* and *City of Seattle v. Blume*, were Mr. Joudeh's mitigation attempts so "unreasonable" as to take the issue from the jury? Assignments of Error nos. 2, 3]
- 9. On summary judgment, who (*i.e.*, the victim or the tortfeasor) carries the burden of showing that the legal malpractice mitigation efforts would have succeeded? [Assignments of Error nos. 3, 4]
- Under *Eriks v. Denver*, must the client prove causation as an essential element of the client's claim for fee disgorgement as a remedy for the attorney's breach of fiduciary duty? [Assignment of Error no. 4]
- 11. Is an attorney strictly liable for disregarding the client's lawful instructions? [Assignment of Error no. 6]
- 12. Does an attorney commit an unfair or deceptive act or practice by using the threat to stop funding litigation expenses as a means of coercing the client into acceding to the attorney's settlement recommendations? [Assignment of Error no. 7]
- 13. Does an attorney's admission that his custom and practice related to the law firm's form fee agreement and other "unreasonable" clients demonstrate a ""a real and substantial potential for repetition"? [Assignment of Error no. 7]

- 14. Does an attorney's decision to stop prepaying the client's litigation expenses and demand, instead, that the client prepay the expenses come within the entrepreneurial aspects of the practice of law? [Assignment of Error no. 7]
- 15. Does an attorney's practice of using a clause in a form fee agreement as a means to coerce "unreasonable" clients to accede to his settlement recommendations satisfy the public interest element of the CPA under RCW 19.86.093(3) adopted in 2009? [Assignment of Error no. 7]
- 16. Does a client sustain "injury," within the meaning of the Washington Consumer Protection Act, when the client is forced to incur time and expense in seeking replacement counsel in the client's pending case? [Assignment of Error no. 7]

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Posture in Trial Court.

Haitham Joudeh's Complaint alleged causes of action for legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, and breach of contract, arising out of the Attorney Darrell Cochran's representation of Haitham in an underlying personal injury action. CP 13-16 ¶¶4.0-6.2. After Mr. Cochran's deposition, Haitham's First Amended Complaint added a cause of action for violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. CP 485 ¶¶7.0-7.8. Cochran Answered both the Complaint and Amended Complaint. CP 21, 489.

Cochran moved for summary judgment. CP 82. Mr. Joudeh

opposed Cochran's motion. CP 504. Citing Cochran's opening motion [CP

82-83], Haitham pointed out that Cochran was limited to his

four (4) initial summary judgment "showings" [CP 505] that:

Defendants' motion for summary judgment purports to make four (4) summary judgment showings: (1) plaintiff cannot prove a breach of the standard of care because he "does not possess any expert testimony;" (2) plaintiff cannot prove proximate cause because he "failed to challenge or appeal the adverse ruling in the underlying personal-injury action;" (3) plaintiff cannot prove a breach of contract because "Mr. Cochran in fact obtained plaintiff's informed consent," and; (4) the court should "dismiss any such CPA claim as a matter of law."

In Reply, Cochran conceded that "Mr. Cutler's testimony creates

an issue of fact whether Mr. Cochran violated the standard of care or

fiduciary duties to plaintiff." CP 924 [Emphasis added].

The trial court heard Cochran's motion for summary judgment on August 29, 2014 and, at the conclusion of argument, dismissed Joudeh's entire case and issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. CP 930.

B. Statement of Facts

Mr. Joudeh entered into a consumer loan agreement with Spokane Firefighters Credit Union ("the Credit Union"). CP 469 ¶3.0; CP 490 ¶1.7. The Credit Union subsequently pursued a non-judicial repossession of the truck. CP 470 ¶3.1; CP 491 ¶1.8. The Credit Union retained Auto Trackers and Recovery ("Auto Trackers") to repossess the truck. CP 469 ¶3.2; CP 491¶1.9. Auto Trackers, in turn, retained Joshua Strickland of Strickland Recovery, LLC to assist in the repossession. CP 469 ¶3.3; CP 490 ¶1.10. See further, CP 705-706 (pp. 45:14-46:16). Matthew Mayo and Trisha Matthews also participated. *Id.*¹

On August 19, 2010, Plaintiff Haitham Joudeh was traveling in the pickup truck in Pierce County, with his minor son, when he was accosted by Mayo and Matthews (in one vehicle) and Strickland in a large tow-truck, threatening to collide with it. CP 469 ¶3.4; CP 491 ¶1.11; see further, CP 868-882, 900-907. This led to a high speed chase over 30 city blocks, which ended when Mayo and Matthews blocked Plaintiff's truck, and Strickland rear-ended it, pushing it into the vehicle in which Mayo and Matthews were driving. *Id.* The police arrested Mayo and Strickland on charges of reckless driving. CP 470 ¶3.8; CP 492.

Mr. Joudeh was seriously injured and his son also sustained injuries. *E.g.*, CP 628-629. Haitham's medical expenses totaled approximately \$70,000. CP 630-631, 656-659.

The Strickland defendants had \$1MM of liability insurance

¹ A question arose in the Underlying tort case about whether Mayo and Matthews were "employees" of Auto Trackers. For purposes of this appeal, that distinction makes no difference because Auto Trackers had a \$1MM liability policy that provided coverage regardless of whether they were "employees." CP 688, 695, 749, 814-816, 829-840.

coverage for Mr. Joudeh's claims. CP 748, 803-804 Auto Trackers, Mayo and Matthews also had \$1MM of liability insurance coverage, and Mayo and Matthews had an additional \$100,000 of coverage through their individual policy. *Id.*; CP 688, 695, 749, 814-818, 829-839.² They were therefore "solvent." CP 563-564 ¶20-21.

Haitham first met with Mr. Cochran on August 26, 2010, and retained the Pfau Cochran law firm on October 25, 2010. CP 471 ¶3.9; CP 492 ¶1.14. Mr. Joudeh's fee agreement with Cochran provides, in part, that "[a]t their sole discretion, Attorneys will advance payment of Costs." CP 375. The fee agreement further provides that "Attorneys will obtain Client's informed consent prior to any settlement arising from this agreement." CP 376. Mr. Cochran assured Haitham that he and his law firm would advance the necessary litigation expenses. CP 408 (23:4-6), 530 ¶3. Cochran advanced Mr. Joudeh's litigation expenses until January 30, 2012 (when a disagreement arose over Mr. Cochran's unauthorized settlement offer). CP 471 ¶¶3.9-3.10; CP 492 ¶1.15.

From the outset of representation, Haitham had wanted to take his case to trial. *E.g.*, 531 ¶6, 613-617 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 7), and 680 (113:12-

² Mr. Cochran erroneously told Mr. Joudeh that Mayo and Matthews's policy limits were only \$100,000. CP 215; CP 615 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 7).

14). Mediation of the underlying matter was scheduled on Monday, January 30, 2012. CP 473 ¶3.17; CP 494 ¶1.22. On January 24, 2012, Haitham wrote to Mr. Cochran, authorizing settlement within a range of \$2,500,000 to \$3,000,000. *Id.* Mr. Cochran nevertheless submitted a mediation brief on Friday, January 27, 2012, in which he communicated an opening settlement offer in the amount of \$552,500. CP 473 ¶3.18; CP 494 ¶1.23; CP 655-659. Mr. Cochran had *not* allowed Haitham an opportunity to see the mediation brief prior to its submission, and Haitham had *not* authorized that settlement offer. CP 530-531 ¶¶4-5. Mr. Joudeh's expert, Philip Cutler, opines that Mr. Cochran breached the standard of care and his fiduciary duties, by making unauthorized settlement offers, including this one. CP564-568.

During and immediately after mediation of the Underlying Matter on January 30, 2012, Mr. Cochran changed his position about advancing costs *because*, in his words, Mr. Joudeh had "rejected my [settlement] advice;" he thereupon demanded that Mr. Joudeh deposit \$10,000 and pay all future litigation expenses. CP 408-412 (pp. 21:17-25:13, 26:17-28:13, 29:1-21, 92:15-94:9), CP 414, 416-417, 419. See further, CP 473-476 **11**3.17-3.27; CP 494-495 **1**1.27. Mr. Cochran also decided that he must settle Mr. Joudeh's case and not take it to trial regardless of Mr. Joudeh's desire to do so. *E.g.*, CP 680 (113:4-114:4). Mr. Cochran demanded prepayment of costs, he said, because he was "no longer interested in carrying the loan for you on this case" and had "no interest in losing [his] money."³ CP 409 (27:16-28:12); CP 414, 416-417, 419. Mr. Cutler opines that Mr. Cochran's demand that Haitham deposit \$10,000 and pay litigation expenses breached Mr. Cochran's fiduciary duties to Haitham. CP 568-569. Mr. Cochran himself confirmed that he has used this same form fee agreement and improper practice with other "unreasonable" clients. CP 409 (25:3-13), CP 412 (94:4-9).

On February 10, 2012, Mr. Cochran offered to "settle the claims against Jack [Strickland's attorney] for \$300,000." CP 660-662. Haitham had not authorized that offer. CP 533 ¶9. On February 13, 2012, Mr. Cochran sent Haitham an email stating that the Strickland defendants had offered to settle for \$100,000. CP 664-666. He wrote that this \$100,000

³ On March 26, 2012, Mr. Cochran demanded that Mr. Joudeh authorize a \$175,000 settlement offer to the Strickland defendants "or [send] a check for costs." CP 673-677.

offer was "a good offer" and "[i]f we can get them to \$150,000, the offer should be accepted." *Id.* Mr. Joudeh rejected Mr. Cochran's advice to accept \$150,000. CP 533 ¶8. Mr. Cochran assured Mr. Joudeh that he could settle with only the Strickland defendants without endangering his claims against the remaining defendants. CP 531-532 ¶6; CP 613-617 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 7).⁴

Mr. Cochran subsequently issued another unauthorized settlement offer to the Strickland defendants in the amount of \$250,000 on March 13 and, when Strickland did not accept it, went further and offered that "we can come off \$250,000" on March 14, 2012. CP 668. Mr. Joudeh had not authorized those offers. CP 633-634 ¶¶10-11. Mr. Cutler opines that Mr. Cochran's unauthorized settlement offers again breached the standard of care and his fiduciary duties to Haitham. CP 564-568. Based on Mr. Cochran's threats relative to litigation expenses, as well as his assurances that Haitham's claims against the remaining defendants would *not* be

⁴ E.g., in a March 26, 2012 email, Mr. Cochran told Haitham "Let's get Strickland in now and that will enable us to keep pounding everyone else." CP 673, 534 \P 12.

affected, Mr. Joudeh finally relented and agreed to a \$250,000 settlement with the Strickland defendants. CP 86, 216.

Mr. Cochran next negotiated a \$100,000 settlement with Mayo and Matthews. *Id.* As with the Strickland settlement, Mr. Cochran assured Haitham that this settlement would not endanger his claims against the Credit Union and Auto Trackers. CP 532-533 ¶7. Haitham would not have authorized settlement with Mayo and Matthews if Mr. Cochran had explained the risks posed by the partial settlement. *Id.*

Mr. Cochran next tried to negotiate with Auto Trackers and the Credit Union; however, Mr. Joudeh refused to consider the settlement amounts Mr. Cochran recommended. CP 616-617. Mr. Cochran and his law firm then withdrew from representation effective October 31, 2012 because Haitham would not accept their settlement recommendations. CP 259-262, 265-267; CP 682. Mr. Joudeh contacted an estimated 50 personal injury law firms in the area, 23 of which are identified by name in Mr. Joudeh's discovery responses. CP 534-535 ¶13; CP 620-624, 626-627 (Ans. to 'Rog. nos. 10, 13). At least two of those attorneys called Mr. Cochran for information. CP 680 (115:11-116:14). Haitham could not get any attorney to represent him as replacement counsel. CP 627 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 13).

The remaining defendants (Auto Trackers and the Credit Union) thereafter moved for summary judgment, each successfully arguing that Haitham's releases of the Strickland defendants, and Mayo and Matthews, effectively released them as well. CP 684-923.⁵

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Reviews All Issues *De Novo* and Draws All Reasonable Inferences in Mr. Joudeh's Favor.

This Court reviews the trial court summary judgment order *de novo*, and considers the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to Mr. Joudeh. *E.g., Dania, Inc. v. Skanska USA Building, Inc.,* __Wn. App. __¶11, __P.3d __, 2014 WL 7404005 *2 (12/30/14); *Taylor v. Bell,* __Wn. App. __¶37, __P.3d __, 2014 WL 7387790 *6 (12/29/14). As a result, the trial court Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law [CP 931-936] are superfluous. *E.g., Old City Hall, LLC v. Pierce*

⁵ Auto Trackers filed two separate motions, the first sought dismissal of vicarious liability claims and the second seeking dismissal of all remaining claims. CP 684-692, 742-744, 844-848. The Court in that case granted both motions. CP 921-923.

County AIDS Found., 181 Wn. App. 1, 14, 329 P.3d 83 (2014).

B. The Trial Court Erred by Not Limiting Cochran to Their Initial Summary Judgment "Showing."

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