725 33.5

72533.5

NO. 72533-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON

HAITHAM JOUDEH,

Appellant,

v.

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA, PLLC, a Washington
Professional Limited Liability Company d/b/a PFAU COCHRAN
VERTETIS KOSNOFF, PLLC, DARRELL L. COCHRAN, Individually
and on behalf of the Marital Community comprised of DARRELL L.
COCHRAN and JANE DOE COCHRAN,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Jeffrey P. Downer, WSBA No. 12625 Spencer N. Gheen, WSBA No. 43343 Of Attorneys for Respondents

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

ORIGINAL ORIGINAL

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Superior court properly granted summary judgment of dismissal because Mr. Joudeh failed to offer the requisite proof of proximate cause on any cause of action alleged in his complaint. Mr. Joudeh did not present any evidence showing that his underlying action was lost or compromised by Mr. Cochran's conduct or that he would have fared better in the absence of Mr. Cochran's alleged breach. This is fatal to his claims.

Rather than point to any evidence in the record establishing proximate cause, Mr. Joudeh mischaracterizes Mr. Cochran's arguments to the superior court, belabors and misconstrues the "showing" that Mr. Cochran must make to prevail on summary judgment, and misinterprets

the bases for the trial court's ruling. A defendant moving for summary judgment need show only the absence of an issue of material fact to shift the burden to the nonmoving party. Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d. 182 (1989). This initial "showing" is met by simply "pointing out to the ... court ... that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case." *Id.* at 225, n.1. Mr. Cochran "pointed out" to the superior court that Mr. Joudeh lacked competent evidence of proximate cause as to each of his claims. CP 82-83, 92-95, 98-99, 100, 103-04. It was therefore Mr. Joudeh's burden to put forth competent evidence of proximate cause. As the trial court concluded, he failed to do so. Mr. Joudeh's brief nevertheless mentions "showing" or a variant thereof some 22 times and twists the meaning of that term. He misuses that term to mean, incorrectly, the legal ground on which a party moves for summary judgment and to imply, also incorrectly, that Mr. Cochran won summary judgment on grounds that he did not argue to the court at the outset of his motion. Mr. Cochran plainly moved for summary judgment on several grounds, including specifically that Mr. Joudeh "failed to challenge or appeal the adverse ruling in the underlying personal-injury action. As a matter of law, that failure defeats plaintiff's proof of proximate cause here." CP 82-83. That is why the superior court granted Mr. Cochran's motion. RP 18.

Mr. Cochran argued that Mr. Joudeh lacked proof of proximate cause not only as to his legal-malpractice claim, but also as to his other claims for breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA). CP 82-83, 92-95, 98-99, 100, 103-04. He advanced arguments from the very beginning, in his summary judgment motion. Thus, Mr. Joudeh's contention that Mr. Cochran impermissibly "expanded" his initial argument is false.

As Mr. Cochran argued below, Mr. Joudeh "offers zero expert testimony, other proof, or authority that Mr. Cochran caused plaintiff to lose his claims or that plaintiff would have achieved a better outcome had Mr. Cochran acted differently. The only proof before this court shows that plaintiff proximately caused the loss of his claims." CP 927. This necessarily defeats Mr. Joudeh's claims for legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and violation of the CPA.

Mr. Joudeh insists that he was not required to prove proximate cause as an element of his breach-of-fiduciary duty claim. However, ample case law — including recent opinions by this court — demonstrates that the elements of a claim for breach of fiduciary duty mirror those of a legal malpractice claim. *See, e.g., Micro Enhancement Int'l, Inc. v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP*, 110 Wn. App. 412, 433–34, 40 P.3d 1206 (2002); *Taylor v. Bell*, _ Wn. App. __, 340 P.3d 951, 959-60 (Div. I

2014) (proximate cause is "an essential element of [plaintiff's] claims for malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty"). It is beyond dispute that proximate cause is an element of a breach-of-fiduciary duty claim. Because Mr. Joudeh put forward no argument or evidence on proximate cause for his breach of fiduciary duty claim — but simply argued in a single sentence that no such evidence was required — his claim for breach of fiduciary duty was properly dismissed. CP 527.

The record on summary judgment is clear: Mr. Joudeh entirely failed to meet his burden of proof of proximate cause. This failure is fatal to each of his claims. The superior court properly dismissed the action.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The standard of review is *de novo*.

This court reviews an order granting summary judgment de novo, performing the same inquiry as the trial court. *Sheikh v. Choe*, 156 Wn.2d 441, 447, 128 P.3d 574 (2006); *Smith v. Safeco Ins., Co.*, 150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003). The court may affirm a judgment on any ground established by the pleadings and supported by the evidence. *Green v. A.P.C. (Am. Pharmaceutical Co.)*, 136 Wn.2d 87, 94, 960 P.2d 912 (1998); *Stieneke v. Russi*, 145 Wn. App. 544, 559-60, 190 P.3d 60 (2008). "[A]n appellate court can sustain the trial court's judgment upon any theory established by the pleadings and supported by the proof, even if the trial court did not consider it." *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-01,

770 P.2d 1027 (1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 814, 110 S. Ct. 61, 107 L. Ed. 2d 29 (1989); see also Northwest Collectors, Inc. v. Enders, 74 Wn.2d 585, 595, 446 P.2d 200 (1968) ("[t]he trial court can be sustained on any ground within the proof"); Kirkpatrick v. Dept. of Labor & Indust., 48 Wn.2d 51, 53, 290 P.2d 979 (1955) ("[w]here a judgment or order is correct, it will not be reversed because the court gave a wrong or insufficient reason for its rendition").

Here, the record supports the trial court's ruling that Mr. Joudeh failed to prove the proximate cause element of each of his claims.

B. Mr. Cochran showed the absence of genuine issues of material fact on summary judgment, shifting the burden to Mr. Joudeh to present competent evidence to support the elements of his claims, which he failed to do.

The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid useless trials on issues that cannot be factually supported, or, if factually supported, could not, as a matter of law, lead to an outcome favorable to the non-moving party. *Burris v. General Ins. Co. of America*, 16 Wn. App. 73, 75, 553 P.2d 125 (1976). If the moving party shows the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, the non-moving party must set forth facts showing that a genuine issue exists for trial. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225.

A moving defendant bears the initial burden of showing that either (1) the plaintiff lacks competent evidence to support an essential element of his case or (2) there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Fisher v. Aldi*

Tire, Inc., 78 Wn. App. 902, 906, 902 P.2d 166 (1995); Guile v. Ballard Community Hosp., 70 Wn. App. 18, 21-22, 851 P.2d 689 (1993). A defendant may support its motion for summary judgment by "merely challenging the sufficiency of the plaintiff's evidence as to any material issue." Las v. Yellow Front Stores, 66 Wn. App. 196, 198, 839 P.2d 744 (1992). If the defendant meets this initial burden, "then the inquiry shifts to the party with the burden of proof at trial, the plaintiff. If, at this point, the plaintiff 'fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial,' then the trial court should grant the motion." Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225 (quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986)). In Celotex, the United States Supreme Court explained:

In such a situation, there can be no genuine issue as to any material fact, since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of a non-moving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.

Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322-23.

The plaintiff may not rely on the bare allegations in her pleadings to defeat summary judgment, but must set forth specific, admissible facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Las*, 66 Wn. App. at 198; *Baldwin v. Sisters of Providence, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 127, 132, 769 P.2d 298 (1989); *Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355,

359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). A summary judgment cannot be defeated with speculation, conjecture, or mere possibility. *Chamberlain v. Dep't of Transp.*, 79 Wn. App. 212, 215-16, 901 P.2d 344 (1995); *Curran v. City of Marysville*, 53 Wn. App. 358, 367, 766 P.2d. 1141 (1989).

On appeal, Mr. Joudeh repeatedly misconstrues these summary judgment standards to raise the false implications that Mr. Cochran had the burden of disproving the elements of Mr. Joudeh's claims and that Mr. Cochran won summary judgment on grounds that his motion did not raise the onset. Both implications are false. Mr. Joudeh obfuscates the legal standards and the arguments to the superior court only because he entirely failed to prove proximate cause or to meet his burden to present competent evidence to defeat summary judgment.

Before the superior court, Mr. Cochran challenged the sufficiency of Mr. Joudeh's evidence of proximate cause — an element essential to his case — on all claims: legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and violation of the CPA. CP 82-83, 92-95, 98-99, 100, 103-104. Thus, it was Mr. Joudeh's burden to present specific, admissible facts showing proximate cause. Mr. Joudeh submitted no evidence that Mr. Cochran lost or compromised Mr. Joudeh's claims or that he could have obtained a better outcome in the underlying action. Indeed, the only evidence on the issue of proximate cause showed that,

when Mr. Cochran withdrew from representation, Mr. Joudeh's claims were still viable, and that months later Mr. Joudeh simply allowed his claims to be dismissed by failing to oppose the remaining defendants summary judgment motions. These undisputed facts — and the absence of material facts supporting proximate cause — entitled Mr. Cochran to summary judgment of dismissal.

C. The superior court correctly dismissed Mr. Joudeh's legal-malpractice claim on summary judgment because he did not and could not prove Mr. Cochran's conduct proximately caused his claimed damages.

Proximate cause in a legal malpractice case is determined by the "but for" test. *Griswold v. Kilpatrick*, 107 Wn. App. 757, 760, 27 P.3d 246 (2001). The plaintiff-client bears the burden of demonstrating that, "but for" the attorney's negligence, the client would have obtained a better result. *Daugert*, 104 Wn.2d at 263. This necessarily involves two steps. The first question is whether the lawyer's alleged conduct caused the client's underlying action to be lost or compromised. *Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson*, 95 Wn. App. 231, 235–36, 974 P.2d 1275 (1999). The second question is whether the client would have fared better but for the lawyer's alleged mishandling of the underlying cause of action. *Id.* Expert testimony may be required to prove proximate cause in a legal-malpractice action. *Geer v. Tonnen*, 137 Wn. App. 838, 155 P.3d 163 (2009).

Therefore, Washington law required Mr. Joudeh to show (1) that Mr. Cochran's conduct lost or compromised Mr. Joudeh's claims; and (2) that Mr. Joudeh would have fared better but for Mr. Cochran's alleged malpractice – that is, that he would have prevailed and obtained a better recovery. Mr. Joudeh failed to show either. As a matter of law, the loss of his claims against SFCU and Auto Trackers resulted not from Mr. Cochran's conduct, but from Mr. Joudeh's own failure to oppose those defendants' summary judgment motions.

Mr. Joudeh resorts to platitudes about the sanctity of the jury and cites inapposite cases outside the realm of legal malpractice to suggest that the superior court cannot decide proximate cause on summary judgment. These arguments are unavailing. As this court has observed, the unique characteristics of a legal-malpractice action may make the issue of proximate cause in those cases more suitable to summary adjudication. *Brust v. Newton*, 70 Wn. App. 286, 290, 852 P.2d 1092 (1993), *rev. den.*, 123 Wn.2d 1010, 869 P.2d 1085 (1994); *see also Nielson*, 100 Wn. App. at 594. Indeed, proximate cause is frequently decided on summary judgment in legal-malpractice actions. *See, e.g., Estep v. Hamilton*, 148 Wn. App. 246, 256-57, 201 P.3d 331 (2008), *review denied*, 166 Wn.2d 1027 (2009) (where legal-malpractice plaintiff "merely speculates what may have been the outcome of divorce litigation had she elected to litigate

rather than agree to final papers ..., she fails the 'but for' test"); Powell v. Associated Counsel for Accused, 146 Wn. App. 242, 249, 191 P.3d 896 (2008); Griswold, 107 Wn. App. at 760-63 (plaintiff's speculative evidence that she could have obtained a better settlement in the absence of attorney's negligence was insufficient to establish proximate cause); Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP, 135 Wn. App. 859, 864-70, 147 P.3d 600 (2006) (plaintiff failed to establish "but for" element of legal malpractice); Sherry v. Diercks, 29 Wn. App. 433, 628 P.2d 1336 (1981) (plaintiff failed to establish proximate cause in legal malpractice action against attorney who allowed default judgment to be taken against him, where plaintiff did not show that, had the underlying action been defended, he would have prevailed or achieved a better result); Nielson v. Eisenhower & Carlson, 100 Wn. App. 584, 594, 999 P.2d 42 (2000) (plaintiff failed to establish that attorney's incorrect advice, which led client to accept allegedly unfavorable settlement, proximately caused loss where as a matter of law the underlying court would not have rendered a more favorable judgment if the claim had been further litigated); Daugert, 104 Wn.2d at 260. This is especially true where, as here, the dispositive facts are undisputed: several months after Mr. Cochran withdrew, plaintiff failed to oppose the remaining defendants' summary judgment motions or to seek relief from the court's orders. The legal effect of those failures is a question of law

that the superior court properly decided on summary judgment.

1. The claims against SFCU and Auto Trackers were still viable at the time of Mr. Cochran's withdrawal.

Mr. Joudeh's entire case is premised on the notion that the settlements with Strickland, Mayo, and Matthews destroyed the claims against SFCU and Auto Trackers and that Mr. Cochran was therefore negligent in failing to concurrently settle with all defendants (or pursue some other strategy of settlement). This is based on an assumption that Strickland, Mayo, and Matthews were agents of the other defendants and that the claims against SFCU and Auto Trackers did not depend solely on vicarious liability claims. This assumption is incorrect. The claims against SFCU and Auto Trackers were not rooted — at least exclusively — in vicarious liability. See CP 197. Mr. Cochran pleaded a claim against Auto Trackers for negligent hiring, training, and supervision. *Id.* Similarly, the claims against SFCU were not based on a theory of vicarious liability. In fact, Mr. Cochran had already successfully survived a summary judgment motion by SFCU by arguing, in part, that SFCU had a non-delegable duties and was directly liable for breach of the peace. CP 381, 340. Mr. Cochran also asserted a negligence claim against SFCU alleging that it was liable for failure to properly investigate the persons it hired. CP 197.

Thus, the settlements with Strickland, Mayo, and Matthews did not harm the remaining case against SFCU and Auto Trackers. (Indeed, SFCU and Auto Trackers continued to negotiate the settlement of the remaining claims even after those parties knew that the other defendants had settled. At the time Mr. Cochran withdrew, he had obtained handsome settlement offers from both of those defendants. CP 253-4, 257.) Therefore, to the extent Mr. Joudeh's claims against SFCU and Auto Trackers were lost, Mr. Cochran's conduct did not cause that loss. As a matter of law, Mr. Joudeh failed to prove proximate cause.

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